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INTRODUC TION

Obesity is a complex metabolic disorder characterized by 
excessive fat accumulation that can trigger many health 

issues in the long run. The global burden of obesity has 
tripled since the seventies. As of 2016, there were 1.9 billion 
overweight adults, of which 650 million were obese.1 In the 
same year, 135 million individuals were affected by obesity in 
India.2 It is projected that the prevalence of obesity in India 
will triple by 2040. Importantly, the prevalence of obesity 
in India by 2040 will be 9.5% in men and 13.9% in women.3 
Therefore, the obesity scourge can be considered to be a 
“ticking time bomb,” ready to explode at any moment and 
will impact large populations across all age groups in both 
rural and urban areas. 

India-specific Challenges
Some of the challenges faced by people the world over are 
also applicable for India. These include a sedentary lifestyle, 
lack of exercise, and consumption of an unhealthy diet. 
Additionally, the tendency to consume fast food is increasing 
in India, especially among the new generation. Street food 
is also popular in India despite being often unhygienic or 
containing harmful ingredients. These trends have been 
influenced by the economic transition that India has been 
undergoing over the past few decades due to the adoption 
of an open economy model. 
The epidemiological pattern of disease burden and deaths 
have been changing since 1990 and has been characterized 
by a steady increase in the burden of noncommunicable 
diseases (NCD). A landmark study called the Lancet Global 
Burden of Disease Study (2016)4 revealed that 61.8% of 
all deaths were due to NCDs, while 27.5% were due to 
communicable diseases. This has resulted in a squabble 
between the advocates of communicable diseases (TB, 
malaria, HIV/AIDS) with those of NCDs (cardiovascular 
diseases and diabetes) on which of the two should get 
precedence with regard to the allotment of resources. Coping 
with this tussle has been really challenging for the Indian 
health system.5 
Another challenge is that obesity in general and normal-
weight obesity in particular is grossly under-recognized in 
India. In case of normal-weight obesity, an individual can be 
obese despite having a normal body weight (BMI: 18.5–24.9 
kg/m2). Notably, this type of obesity can significantly increase 
the risk of death from heart attack or stroke. It can also cause 
hypertension and dyslipidemia.6 
Similarly, Indian data on obesity awareness is scanty and the 

few studies that have been conducted are inconclusive,7,8 
while one study has indicated that awareness is low in certain 
groups.9 

Existing Policy Programs
There are several programs run by the Indian government. 
These include the Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, 
Child, and Adolescent Health (RMNCH + A) Program,10 the 
Rashtriya Bal Swasthya Karyakram (RBSK; National Child 
Health Program),11 the Integrated Child Development 
Services (ICDS) Scheme,12 as well as the School Health and 
Wellness Program.13 All these programs are very ambitious 
and are directed towards the improvement of the health 
and wellbeing of children and in some cases, also that of 
mothers, newborns and adolescents (RMNCH + A Program). 
The major thrust areas in case of children include nutrition 
(through mid-day meals in schools) and physical, mental and 
social development. It also includes screening for congenital 
defects, deficiency disorders, developmental delays, and 
disabilities. Others include immunization, micronutrient 
supplementation, and de-worming drives. In the case of 
adolescents, these cover depression, substance abuse, mental 
health, reproductive health, injuries and violence (including 
gender-based violence), among several others. The RBSK 
program includes NCDs in the adolescent health category. 
Unfortunately, there is no mention of obesity. There are 
some other related government programs in India, including 
the National Program for Prevention and Control of Cancer, 
Diabetes, Cardiovascular Diseases and Stroke (NPCDCS),14 
Mothers Absolute Affection (MAA) Program,15 and the 
National Nutrition Mission (NNM).16 But here also, obesity is 
not emphasized.

The Way Forward
There are several strategies that can be adopted to address 
the challenges. Policymakers should be sensitized about 
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the impending obesity epidemic in India. Greater political 
will is the need of the hour. Coordination, hand-holding, 
and capacity building between the various stakeholders, 
including both the public and private sectors, is required. 
There is a need to ensure that fragmentation of work does not 
occur. Mothers’ education in family health is also important so 
that they become aware of basic hygiene, nutrition, and their 
children’s general wellbeing. Coupled with this, they should 
be informed about the detrimental effects of overnutrition 
on health and the dangers of obesity. Dietary guidelines 
for preventing and managing NCDs, including obesity, are 
available in the medical literature,17 which family physicians 
can utilize to educate their patients. 
In India, the primary healthcare system mainly focuses on 
health conditions due to undernutrition, and rightly so, as 
the majority of Indian children are malnourished. However, 
the time has come to pay some attention to the detrimental 
effects of overnutrition, which is largely responsible for 
conditions like obesity in children and adolescents and 
later in adulthood. Ending on an optimistic note, the One 
Health approach, spearheaded by the One Health Initiative 
Taskforce, has included obesity as one of its priorities.18 
Moreover, since the Indian government recently launched 
the One Health Consortium,19 there is still hope to stop this 
silent epidemic.

REFERENCES
1.	 World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight. WHO, Geneva, 

9 June 2021. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-
sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight; Accessed on 21 June, 2023. 

2.	 Ahirwar R, Mondal PR. Prevalence of obesity in India: A systematic 
review. Diabetes Metab Syndr. 2019;13(1):318-21. DOI: 10.1016/j.
dsx.2018.08.032.

3.	 Luhar S, Timaeus IM, Jones R, Cunningham S, Patel SA, Kinra S, et 
al. Forecasting the prevalence of overweight and obesity in India 
to 2040. PLoS One. 2020;15(2): e0229438. DOI: 10.1371/journal.
pone.0229438.

4.	 GBD 2016 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence 
Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, 
and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 
countries, 1990-2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of 
Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2017; 390(10100): 1211-59. DOI:  10.1016/
S0140-6736(17)32154-2.

5.	 Mohan P, Mohan SB, Dutta M. Communicable or noncommunicable 
diseases? Building strong primary health care systems to address 
double burden of disease in India. J Family Med Prim Care. 
2019;8(2):326-9. DOI: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_67_19.

6.	 Franco LP, Morais CC, Cominetti C. Normal-weight obesity 
syndrome: Diagnosis, prevalence, and clinical implications. Nutr 
Rev. 2016;74(9):558-70. DOI: 10.1093/nutrit/nuw019.

7.	 Ramaiah RR. Prevalence of obesity and awareness of its risk factors 

among medical students of a rural teaching hospital of south India: 
A cross-sectional study. Int J Med Sci Public Health. 2015;4:1373-6. 
DOI: 10.5455/ijmsph.2015.11012015283.

8.	 Agrawal P, Gupta K, Mishra V, Agrawal S. Awareness on causes, 
consequences and preventive measures of obesity among urban 
married women in India. Int J Med Public Health. 2013;3(4):293-302. 
DOI: 10.4103/2230-8598.123476.

9.	 Bhattacharya PK, Gogoi N, Roy A. Prevalence and awareness of 
obesity and its risk factors among adolescents in two schools in a 
northeast Indian city. Int J Med Sci Public Health. 2016; 5(6): 1111-22. 
DOI: 10.5455/ijmsph.2016.1809201516.

10.	 Reproductive, Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health 
(RMNCH + A). National Health Mission, Ministry of Health and 
Family Welfare, Government of India. Available at: https://nhm.gov.
in/index1.php?lang=1&level=1&sublinkid=794&lid=168; Accessed 
on 21 June, 2023.

11.	 Rashtriya Bal Swasthya Karyakram (RBSK). National Health Mission, 
Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India. 
Available at: https://upnrhm.gov.in/Home/Rbsk; Accessed on 22 
June, 2023.

12.	 Integrated Child Development Services (ICDS) Scheme. Ministry of 
Women and Child Development, Government of India. Available 
at: http://icds-wcd.nic.in/icds.aspx; Accessed on 22 June, 2023.

13.	 School Health and Wellness Programme. Ministry of Health and 
Family Welfare, Government of India. Available at: https://nhm.gov.
in/index1.php?lang=1&level=3&sublinkid=1384&lid=746; Accessed 
on 22 June, 2023. 

14.	 National Programme for Prevention and Control of Cancer, 
Diabetes, Cardiovascular Diseases and Stroke (NPCDCS). Ministry 
of Health and Family Welfare, Government of India. Available at: 
https://nhm.gov.in/index1.php?lang=1&level=2&sublinkid=1048&
lid=604#:~:text=In%20order%20to%20prevent%20and,early%20
diagnosis%2C%20management%20and%20referral; Accessed on 
23 June, 2023.

15.	 Mother’s Absolute Affection (MAA) Programme for Infant and 
Young Children Feeding. Ministry of Health and Family Welfare, 
Government of India. Available at: https://www.nhp.gov.in/maa-
(mothers%E2%80%99-absolute-affection)-programme-for-infant-
and-young-child-feeding_pg; Accessed on 23 June, 2023.

16.	 National Nutrition Mission (NNM). Government of India. Available 
at: https://sswcd.punjab.gov.in/en/poshan-abhiyaan-national-
nutrition-mission-nnm-0; Accessed on 23 June, 2023.

17.	 Misra A, Sharma R, Gulati S, Joshi SR, Sharma V, Ghafoorunissa, 
et al. National Dietary Guidelines Consensus Group. Consensus 
dietary guidelines for healthy living and prevention of obesity, 
the metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and related disorders in Asian 
Indians. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2011;13(6):683-94. DOI:   10.1089/
dia.2010.0198.

18.	 Bartges J, Kushner RF, Michel KE, Sallis R, Day MJ. One health 
solutions to obesity in people and their pets. J Comp Pathol. 
2017;156(4):326-33. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcpa.2017.03.008.

19.	 One Health Consortium. Department of Biotechnology, Ministry of 
Science and Technology, Government of India. Press Information 
Bureau, 9 December 2021. Available at: https://pib.gov.in/
PressReleseDetail.aspx?PRID=1779757; Accessed on 23 June, 2023.


